FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington 1/8/2021 11:53 AM

No. 96604-4

[Court of Appeals No. 49768-9-II]

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/8/2021 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

99407-2

IN THE SUPREME COURT
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

GROCERY MANUFACTURERS ASSOCIATION,

Petitioner.

GROCERY MANUFACTURERS ASSOCIATION,

Petitioner,

v.

ROBERT W. FERGUSON, Attorney General of the State of Washington, in his Official Capacity,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Grocery Manufacturers Association ("GMA"), now known as Consumer Brands Association, asks this Court to accept review of the decision designated in Part II.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

On November 10, 2020, the court of appeals rejected GMA's Eighth Amendment challenge to the trial court's record-breaking judgment. *State v. Grocery Mfrs. Ass'n*, __ Wn. App. __, 475 P.3d 1062 (2020) ("*GMA III*"). *See* Appendix A. On November 30, GMA moved for reconsideration, *see* Appendix B, which was denied on December 9, 2020. *See* Appendix C.

III. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

"Punitive fines should not be sought or imposed 'to retaliate against or chill the speech of political enemies' or as 'a source of revenue." State v. Grocery Mfrs. Ass'n, 195 Wn.2d 442, 476, 461 P.3d 334 (2020) ("GMA II") (quoting Timbs v. Indiana, 586 U.S. ___, 139 S. Ct. 682, 689, 203 L. Ed. 2d 11 (2019)). Yet the court of appeals flatly rejected the argument that free speech is relevant in judging the excessiveness of a penalty, and it refused to consider evidence that the State improperly singled out GMA for a huge fine. After a perfunctory review that misapplied each Eighth Amendment factor considered, the court held that the \$18 million penalty imposed in this case—nearly six times all the other penalties imposed since 2005 in AGO

enforcement actions under the Fair Campaign Practices Act ("FCPA")—was not grossly disproportional to GMA's conduct in shielding members that contributed funds GMA spent on lawful political expression. Should this Court review and correct the court of appeals' constitutional errors?¹

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

GMA represents American food, beverage, and consumer-product makers. *See* CP 4052; RP 641–42. Before Congress adopted federal legislation in 2016, debate raged over whether food manufacturers should be required to disclose on their labels the presence of ingredients derived from genetically modified organisms ("GMOs"). Ex. 2, 139. GMA opposed piecemeal state-level efforts and supported a uniform nationwide standard.

GMA fought a GMO-labeling initiative that appeared on the 2012 California ballot. *See* Ex. 139; CP 4053; RP 442. When GMA and its members contributed funds to oppose this initiative, they confronted death threats and boycotts. CP 4053. In August 2012, GMA staff began discussing creation of a "Defense of Brands Strategic Account" (the "Account"). Ex. 131; *see also* CP 4053–54. The goal of the Account was to enable GMA to speak for its members on the controversial issue of GMO labeling through political activity and consumer outreach. Ex. 21, 139; RP 441–43.

¹ This petition for review does not address GMA's liability because all liability issues were resolved in *GMA II*. Although this petition treats liability issues as settled, GMA reserves the right to raise them in connection with a future petition for a writ of certiorari.

After GMA established the Account, Washington Initiative 522 qualified for the ballot in 2013 and became a focus of GMA's advocacy efforts. RP 436, CP 605, 4054. That May, GMA began contributing to the No on 522 Committee ("No on I-522"). *See* Ex. 76. GMA's contributions were all disclosed as coming from "Grocery Manufacturers." Ex. 76, 104, 119, 120. In October 2013 the State sued GMA, alleging that GMA had failed to properly register and report as a political committee and had thereby concealed the sources of funds that GMA contributed to No on I-522. CP 18–24. Three weeks before Election Day, GMA registered a political committee and disclosed its members who had funded the Account. CP 1690–92, 3858–60.

After a penalty-phase trial, the trial court entered judgment against GMA for \$19,026,090: a \$6 million base fine, trebled to \$18 million based on the finding that GMA's violations had been intentional, plus legal fees. SCP 4354–57. The Attorney General called this "the highest penalty ever awarded for [a] campaign finance lawsuit anywhere in the country[,] ever."²

Division Two affirmed as to liability but held that the trial court had improperly interpreted RCW 42.17A.765(5) when it trebled its \$6 million

² A Conversation with Attorney General Bob Ferguson, SEATTLE PUB. LIBRARY PODCAST (July 11, 2017), https://www.spl.org/Audio/17_07_11_AGBobFerguson.mp3 (transcript: https://www.spl.org/Seattle-Public-Library/documents/transcriptions/2017/17-07-11_Bob-Ferguson.pdf) ("LIBRARY PODCAST").

base fine. *State v. Grocery Mfrs. Ass'n*, 5 Wn. App. 2d 169, 208–09, 425 P.3d 927 (2018) ("*GMA I*"). This Court reversed that decision and remanded for consideration of GMA's Eighth Amendment arguments, stating:

[T]he state requested an apparently unprecedented base penalty of \$14,622,820, trebled to \$43,868,460. CP at 3996. Nearly all of the requested base penalty (\$14 million) was attributed to "the amount of funds that went unreported." *Id.* at 4002. This is a permitted statutory basis for determining a penalty. Former RCW 42.17A.750(1)(f) (2013). However, it will not always be constitutional as applied. *See Bajakajian*, 524 U.S. at 338–39, 118 S. Ct. 2028. The trial court ultimately imposed a smaller, but still apparently unprecedented, base penalty of \$6 million, trebled to \$18 million. On remand, this penalty must be scrutinized carefully to ensure that it is based on constitutionally permissible considerations and is not grossly disproportional to GMA's violations of the FCPA's registration and disclosure requirements for political committees.

GMA II, 195 Wn.2d at 476-77.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

The court of appeals failed to "scrutinize[] carefully" the penalty against GMA "to ensure that it is based on constitutionally permissible considerations and is not grossly disproportional to GMA's violations of the FCPA's registration and disclosure requirements." *See id.* The court of appeals' failure to follow this Court's directions, to apply U.S. Supreme Court authority, and to limit the State's fine as required under the Constitution warrants review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3), and (4).

A. The Court of Appeals Misapplied Bajakajian.

"A fine is excessive 'if it is grossly disproportional to the gravity of a defendant's offense." *GMA II*, 195 Wn.2d at 476 (quoting *United States v. Bajakajian*, 524 U.S. 321, 334, 118 S. Ct. 2028, 141 L. Ed. 2d 314 (1998)). To determine whether a fine is grossly disproportional, courts consider "(1) the nature and extent of the crime, (2) whether the violation was related to other illegal activities, (3) the other penalties that may be imposed for the violation, and (4) the extent of the harm caused." *GMA II*, 195 Wn.2d at 476 (quoting *United States v. 100,348.00 in U.S. Currency*, 354 F.3d 1110, 1122 (9th Cir. 2004)).

Rather than examine these factors as instructed and as *Bajakajian* requires, the court of appeals determined, in essence, that an \$18 million fine is constitutional because GMA did something for which the FCPA authorizes a large fine and because the fine promotes the underlying policy judgment that more disclosure is better than less. This reasoning, if not corrected, would render the Excessive Fines Clause a nullity. Properly applied, the *Bajakajian* factors establish that both the base penalty and the trebling are grossly disproportional and, therefore, unconstitutional.

1. <u>The "crime" here was a garden-variety FCPA violation.</u>

GMA failed to register a political committee and to disclose which of its members provided funds to the Account. This is a fairly common

offense—indeed, it happened multiple times in the I-522 campaign. *See*, *e.g.*, *State ex rel. Wash. Pub. Disclosure Comm'n v. Food Democracy Action!*, 5 Wn. App. 2d 542, 544–48, 427 P.3d 699 (2018) ("*FDA*"). It has happened before and since the 2013 election as well. For example, Voters Education Committee in 2010 failed to report and concealed a \$1.5 million contribution, a crime for which it was required to pay \$160,000. CP 3636.

The court of appeals pointed out that GMA had been found to have acted intentionally and that it "infringed on the FCPA's first stated policy" favoring full disclosure. *GMA III*, 475 P.3d at 1069. But acting intentionally cannot be enough to warrant a massive fine. Intent is a prerequisite for *any* punitive-damage award under the FCPA. *See GMA II*, 195 Wn.2d at 474–75. As this Court cautioned, affirming the trial court's determination that GMA's violations were intentional "does not necessarily mean that *either* the base penalty *or* the treble penalty that was actually imposed is constitutional." *Id.* at 476 (emphasis added). For a crime to be serious and significant enough to justify a \$6 million fine, let alone an \$18 million fine,³ a defendant's conduct must be uniquely blameworthy and repugnant in comparison to the conduct of other FCPA offenders, GMA's is not.⁴

³ Notwithstanding this Court's recognition that the base penalty and the trebling must be separately analyzed for excessiveness, the court of appeals lumped them together.

⁴ No other violator of the FCPA has ever faced sanctions remotely close to those imposed on GMA, including serial offenders found to have acted intentionally and therefore subject to punitive damages. *Cf. State ex rel. Wash. State Pub. Disclosure Comm'n v. Permanent*

To be sure, as the court of appeals observed, GMA has been found to be in violation of the policy of the statute favoring full disclosure and avoidance of secrecy. But the same thing is true of every other person found liable for violating the FCPA's disclosure rules. Yet the court of appeals refused to examine how the fine imposed in this case compares with the penalties assessed against other violators of the same statute. *See* Appendices B and C.

Although the policy interests emphasized by Division Two apply in every case brought under the FCPA, the fine imposed in this case is without precedent or parallel. Over the 14-year period from 2005 through 2018, the average FCPA penalty in 41 cases was about \$517,000.⁵ If the GMA fine is excluded, that figure plummets to approximately \$80,000. If suspended penalties are excluded, it drops further still to under \$60,000. The \$18 million GMA penalty is *nearly six times the sum of all other fines* imposed in FCPA actions brought by the AGO over this 14-year period. It is also more than 24 times larger than the next-largest penalty, a \$735,000 fine

-

Offense, 136 Wn. App. 277, 280–81, 150 P.3d 568 (2006) (defendants Eyman and Karr conspired to create dummy corporation to conceal from the public Eyman's compensation by supposedly "grass-roots" campaign); CP 3636 (Eyman penalized \$50,000 in 2002 for concealment of expenditures).

⁵ See AGO Case Outcomes, WASH. STATE OFFICE OF THE ATT'Y GEN., https://www.atg.wa.gov/enforcement-campaign-finance-laws (last visited Jan. 6, 2021).

against the Washington Education Association for diverting nonmember agency fees to electoral purposes.⁶

2. GMA's violations were not related to other illegal activity.

Although GMA was fined for a unified course of conduct, the court of appeals held that GMA's conduct "involved multiple illegal activities" because it violated multiple FCPA sections. *GMA III*, 475 P.3d at 1069. This was error.

The question under *Bajakajian* is not whether GMA's conduct violated multiple provisions in the FCPA. After all, a "federal grand jury indicted respondent [Bajakajian] on three counts," based on four separate statutory provisions. *See* 524 U.S. at 325. *Bajakajian* instead directs courts to examine whether the conduct in question related to *other* illegal activity. Courts applying this factor, therefore, ask whether the punished conduct relates to some *separate* illegal act, such as tax evasion, money laundering, or receiving proceeds from a crime. There is no such act in this case. GMA spent lawfully acquired funds on core political speech, a lawful—indeed, a constitutionally protected—activity.

⁶ See id. Appendix D sets forth a graphic representation of FCPA penalty data.

⁷ See, e.g., United States v. Abair, 746 F.3d 260, 267 (7th Cir. 2014) (the defendant was convicted on eight separate counts, but unlike another case in which forfeiture was "upheld . . . in large part based on the . . . special risk of tax evasion or money laundering," "[t]here is no indication that Abair tried to avoid the reporting rules on other occasions or that her deposits were tied to any other criminal activity").

3. The other penalties available here demonstrate the gross disproportionality of an \$18 million fine.

The court of appeals used the very statute that authorized the \$18 million fine as the point of comparison for "other" possible penalties. In holding that "[t]he penalty imposed was well within the limits established by former RCW 42.17A.750(1)(f)" because it authorized a fine equal to the unreported amount, *GMA III*, 475 P.3d at 1070, the court failed to make any true comparison at all. *Any* penalty issued under that statute will *always* be within the authorized range; otherwise, it would violate the statute and there would be no need to reach the constitutional question. *See United States v. Beecroft*, 825 F.3d 991, 1002 n.9 (9th Cir. 2016) ("To hold otherwise would be tantamount to concluding that the Eighth Amendment simply does not apply to statutorily mandated forfeitures.").

As this Court stated, "a permitted statutory basis for determining a penalty . . . will not always be constitutional as applied." *GMA II*, 195 Wn.2d at 476. Yet the court of appeals ignored this, instead treating as dispositive the trial court's undisputed statutory authority to have fined GMA even more harshly than it did. By the same logic, the legislature could have authorized, and the trial court could have imposed, a billion-dollar penalty and there would be no constitutional violation.

The court of appeals' approach makes the Excessive Fines clause superfluous. The Eighth Amendment must, instead, be understood to be a check on the legislature's ability to authorize limitless fines. *See von Hofe v. United States*, 492 F.3d 175, 181 (2d Cir. 2007) ("The Eighth Amendment checks the government's power to punish."); *Grid Radio v. FCC*, 278 F.3d 1314, 1322 (D.C. Cir. 2002) (*Bajakajian* is based on the concern that penalties could be "indefinite and unlimited . . . if the government could seize whatever . . . the unwitting 'exporter' happened to be carrying when caught"). The Eighth Amendment is no safeguard if it is treated as coextensive with whatever a statute may authorize.

The proper point of comparison in this case is the per-day and per-violation penalties authorized under RCW 42.17A.750(1)(c) and (d). If applied at their maximum levels, those penalties total \$622,820; if trebled to \$1.87 million, they would represent the largest FCPA fine ever imposed in Washington on anyone not named GMA. *See AGO Case Outcomes*, WASH. STATE OFFICE OF THE ATT'Y GEN., https://www.atg.wa.gov/enforcement-campaign-finance-laws. A fine of \$18 million, which is nearly ten times that amount, is grossly disproportional under *Bajakajian*.

4. GMA's conduct caused no discernible harm.

The court of appeals acknowledged that it is impossible to know whether GMA's violation affected the outcome of the election. *GMA III*,

475 P.3d at 1070. To put a finer point on the matter: Even if GMA's *protected speech*—its contributions to No on I-522—affected the election, there is no reason to believe that its FCPA violations gave the opponents of I-522 one iota of advantage. After all, every contribution that GMA made was disclosed as coming from "Grocery Manufacturers," and every ad published by No on I-522 disclosed that the principal sponsors were Monsanto, DuPont Pioneer, and GMA. No voter could have been deceived about the economic motivations of the initiative's opponents. Moreover, all of the information that the State says should have been disclosed was, in fact, disclosed before the voters cast their ballots.

Nevertheless, the court of appeals concluded that "the harm GMA caused . . . was substantial." *Id.* The only harm identified by the court was that GMA's conduct undermined the goal of promoting disclosure and transparency. Although vindicating that policy goal justifies some penalty, the court of appeals never explained how any harm caused by GMA is proportional to the fine imposed on GMA—or, for that matter, how such harm differs from the harm to the interest in transparency caused by every other party that has been found to have violated the FCPA.

The court simply *assumed* that harm was equal to the amount GMA spent on political expression:

Because a major concern regarding the failure to disclose the source of campaign contributions is how that failure interferes with public information during the electoral process, the harm caused by concealing the source of contributions necessarily is tied to the size of the contributions.

Id.; see also id. at 1069 (citing "the large amount of funds not reported" as a factor that "relate[s] to the gravity of GMA's offense"). This was error. There is no basis for assuming a one-to-one ratio between the amount of funds involved and any harm, still less for ignoring that the name under which the funds were given in this case fully disclosed the donor's economic interests. Bajakajian rejects equating an undisclosed sum with the gravity of an offense. See 524 U.S. at 337 (an offense that involves withholding information about lawful conduct does not support a heavy penalty).

Even if the amount GMA expended were the touchstone for analysis, the size of its fine would remain grossly disproportional. Consider the \$160,000 that Voters Education Committee was required to pay for failing to report and concealing a \$1.5 million contribution. CP 3636. The penalty imposed in this case is 109 times higher. On a dollar-for-dollar basis, the concealed contributions in this case were penalized *15.35 times more harshly* than those made by Voters Education Committee. *See id.*

The court of appeals all but acknowledged what GMA has long maintained—namely, that it was punished for the amount it spent speaking on an issue vital to its members, not in proportion to any harm caused by the non-disclosure of the specific members who were the source of its funds. And this raises questions about whether the GMA fine was imposed for impermissible reasons.

B. The Court of Appeals Ignored Evidence of Anti-GMA Animus.

The penalty here exceeds the other potentially available fines for GMA's conduct by a factor of ten; it utterly dwarfs every other FCPA fine ever imposed. An \$18 million fine (or even a \$6 million fine) defies explanation in the law or in the history of FCPA enforcement. At best, this suggests improper equating of the "decibel level" of GMA's speech with the seriousness of its violations. At worst, the outsize fine that the State sought and the trial court imposed betrays discrimination against GMA, a trade association speaking on one side of a contentious public debate.

This Court, mindful of the seriousness of these issues, instructed the court of appeals to make sure that the fine was "based on constitutionally permissible considerations." *GMA II*, 195 Wn.2d at 477. Every justice on the Court emphasized this point. *See id.* at 480–82 (Johnson, J., concurring in part and dissenting in part); *id.* at 482 & 490–91 (Gordon McCloud, J.,

concurring in part and dissenting in part). But Division Two ducked its assignment. *See GMA III*, 475 P.3d at 1071.

As this Court knows, a speaker on the other side of the I-522 fight, Food Democracy Action! ("FDA"), also violated the FCPA. FDA's conduct was at least as culpable as GMA's if not more so:

- FDA knew about the requirement to disclose the identities of those who contributed more than \$25 for FDA to use in the I-522 race. *FDA*, 5 Wn. App. 2d at 545 (notice posted on FDA's website so stated).⁸
- Despite this knowledge, FDA donated \$200,000 to Yes on I-522 without disclosing that the funds came from 7,000 people, most of whom lived out of state. *Id.*
- FDA failed to file a corrective disclosure providing the required information before the election. *Id*.
- FDA did not bother to appear for trial. *Id.* at 547.

Despite all this, the State—trying its case against an empty chair—opted to waive "any argument that Food Democracy intentionally concealed the source of its contributions," and it "did not seek treble damages for intentional violations of the state campaign disclosure laws." *Id*.

The dramatic difference between the State's treatment of GMA, with its anti-labeling message, and pro-labeling FDA raises questions about

14

⁸ See also CP 2980–90 (PDC's investigative report regarding FDA, quoting its fundraising newsletters).

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