FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 2/26/2021 3:43 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

NO. 99407-2

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

GROCERY MANUFACTURERS ASSOCIATION,

Petitioner.

STATE'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

NOAH G. PURCELL, WSBA 43492 Solicitor General

KARL D. SMITH, WSBA 41988 Deputy Solicitor General

CRISTINA SEPE, WSBA 53609 Assistant Attorney General

Office ID 91087 1125 Washington Street SE PO Box 40100 Olympia, WA 98504-0100 360-753-6200 karl.smith@atg.wa.gov

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

IV. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

In deciding that the penalty imposed here was within constitutional bounds given GMA's unprecedented violation of state law, the Court of Appeals correctly applied the very case relied on by GMA—*United States v. Bajakajian*, 524 U.S. 321, 118 S. Ct. 2028, 141 L. Ed. 2d 314 (1998). The Court of Appeals' correct application of precedent does not warrant review. Nor does GMA's false allegation of an improper purpose or its novel argument for expansion of United States Supreme Court precedent.

A. The Court of Appeals Correctly Applied Precedent

Addressing GMA's excessive fines clause argument, the Court of Appeals applied the precise precedent cited by GMA in its untimely motion in superior court and again in the Court of Appeals. *Compare* CP 4326-29 (arguing *Bajakajian* factors), *and* Opening Br. at 42-49 (same), *with GMA III*, 15 Wn. App. 2d at 300-07 (applying *Bajakajian* factors).

The Court of Appeals' decision correctly applies the two overarching principles and four factors derived from Bajakajian. The Court heeded two "particularly relevant" principles. First, "judgments about the appropriate punishment for an offense belong in the first instance to the legislature" and thus, courts should give substantial deference to legislative authority. Bajakajian, 524 U.S. at 336. Second, "any judicial determination regarding the gravity of a particular . . . offense will be inherently imprecise." *Id.*; see GMA III, 15 Wn. App. 2d at 301. The Court of Appeals then applied four factors taken from *Bajakajian*: "(1) the nature and extent of the crime, (2) whether the violation was related to other illegal activities, (3) the other penalties that may be imposed for the violation, and (4) the extent of the harm caused." GMA II, 195 Wn.2d at 476 (quoting United States v. \$100,348.00 in U.S. Currency, 354 F.3d 1110, 1122 (9th Cir. 2004)). Because the Court of Appeals correctly applied precedent, the Court should deny review.

1. The Court of Appeals showed appropriate deference to the legislature's decisions about appropriate penalties

Bajakajian's first admonition, which the Court of Appeals followed, is that courts should generally defer to legislative judgments about appropriate penalties. See GMA III, 15 Wn. App. 2d at 301, 305 (citing Bajakajian, 524 U.S. at 336). Here, the penalties imposed were well within the limits set by state law. These penalty determinations by the legislature, while not dispositive, deserve deference because they "represent the collective opinion" of Washingtonians "as to what is and what is not excessive." United States v. 817 N.E. 29th Drive, Wilton Manors, Fla., 175 F.3d 1304, 1309 (11th Cir. 1999). Washingtonians have concluded that campaign finance penalties should be more than just a cost of doing business. Washington is not an outlier in this conclusion. Federal law allows a penalty up to ten times the amount of the contribution—significantly more than is allowed under Washington law. See 11 C.F.R. § 111.24(a)(2)(ii).

The Court of Appeals also noted a second principle: The inherent imprecision in "any judicial determination regarding the gravity of a particular" offense means that reviewing courts should only set aside a penalty if it "is grossly disproportional to the gravity of the defendant's offense[.]" *Bajakajian*, 524 U.S. at 322-23, 337; *see GMA III*, 15 Wn. App. 2d at 301. The Court correctly determined that GMA failed this burden.

2. GMA's violations were serious

Applying the first *Bajakajian* factor, the Court of Appeals correctly determined that the violations were "serious and significant." *GMA III*, 15 Wn. App. 2d at 302. GMA's attempts to minimize its actions as "a garden-variety FCPA violation," *see* Pet. at 5, ignore that it perpetrated the largest violation of Washington campaign finance laws in state history.

The Court of Appeals rejected GMA's attempts to minimize its actions as a mere reporting violation and considered unchallenged findings from the trial court on factors that weighed in favor of a substantial penalty. *GMA III*, 15 Wn. App. 2d at 302 (citing CP 4069). The Court of Appeals specifically called out GMA's efforts to "intentionally shield its members' political activity from public scrutiny in a campaign involving a contentious ballot proposition," which blocked Washington voters from knowing who was spending millions to defeat the proposition. *GMA III*, 15 Wn. App. 2d at 303. As this Court has already recognized, GMA's actions go beyond a "garden-variety" reporting violation, as GMA "engage[d] in acts of concealment that went beyond its failure to comply with the FCPA's registration and disclosure requirements." *GMA II*, 195 Wn.2d at 469.

GMA's strained attempts to analogize this case to *Bajakajian* rely on its continued attempts to minimize the severity of its actions. In *Bajakajian*, the defendant failed to report \$350,000 in cash during an

international flight. *Bajakajian*, 524 U.S. at 324-25. Bajakajian pleaded guilty to a statute that requires anyone who transports more than \$10,000 out of the country to report the transfer. *Id.* at 325. The federal government then sought forfeiture of the cash. *Id.* at 325-26. The Court thought it significant that the crime was merely failing to report currency that was lawfully Bajakajian's that he intended for a lawful purpose. *Id.* at 338. The Court further noted that Bajakajian did not fit into the class of persons for whom the forfeiture statute was principally designed—money launderers, drug traffickers, and tax evaders. *Id.* The Court accordingly found that Bajakajian's culpability was minimal because the crime was "solely a reporting offense." *Id.* at 337-38.

But here, reporting and disclosure are the very purposes of the FCPA, and the statute's first stated policy is "[t]hat political campaign and lobbying contributions and expenditures be fully disclosed to the public and that secrecy is to be avoided." RCW 42.17A.001(1). As a political spender, GMA is *precisely* within the class of parties to be regulated under the statute. And this case involves an active effort to conceal, not just a failure to report. *GMA II*, 195 Wn.2d at 469-70. GMA's misdeeds constitute more than just a reporting violation; they were a fraud upon the public as to the identity of those who stood to benefit from I-522's defeat.

GMA critiques the Court of Appeals for focusing on GMA's intent,

Opening Br. at 6, but courts often look to a violator's culpability in an excessive fines analysis. *See Pimentel v. City of Los Angeles*, 974 F.3d 917, 923 (9th Cir. 2020) (explaining that if culpability is high, the nature and extent of the underlying violation is more significant); \$100,348.00 in U.S. Currency, 354 F.3d at 1123 (determining that culpability increased where the defendant's violation involved reckless behavior).

GMA also contends that the Court of Appeals should have looked at whether its conduct was "uniquely blameworthy and repugnant in comparison to the conduct of other[s]" who violated the FCPA. Pet. at 6. GMA goes on to compare the penalty imposed to penalties in other FCPA cases. Pet. at 7-8. But GMA cites no authority for this argument, and courts are instructed to "review the specific actions of the violator rather than by taking an abstract view of the violation." *Pimentel*, 974 F.3d at 923. In any event, GMA's conduct was uniquely repugnant in that it intentionally perpetrated by far the largest campaign finance violation in Washington history. And offhand comparisons to prior cases lack force given that the actions alleged in those cases varied widely, many settled, and none remotely compare to the scope of the violation here.¹

Here, the Court of Appeals properly looked at GMA's specific

¹ See Wash. State Office of the Att'y Gen., Enforcement Of Campaign Finance Laws: AGO Case Outcomes, https://www.atg.wa.gov/enforcement-campaign-finance-laws (last visited Feb. 25, 2021).

actions, including that GMA solicited over \$14 million in contributions from its member companies and intentionally concealed those sources from the public, as well as the number of violations and the length of deception, to correctly conclude that the extent and nature of the violations were serious and substantive. *GMA III*, 15 Wn. App. 2d at 302-03.

3. GMA's violations were related to other illegal activities

The Court of Appeals next addressed the second *Bajakajian* factor: whether the underlying offense relates to other illegal activities. *See GMA III*, 15 Wn. App. 2d at 303. This factor is not as relevant regarding civil penalties "as it might be in criminal contexts." *Pimentel*, 974 F.3d at 923.

The Court of Appeals explicitly rejected GMA's argument that its conduct involved no other illegal activities. *See* Pet. at 8. As the Court of Appeals discussed, the trial court found that GMA committed multiple FCPA violations. This Court likewise held that GMA violated the FCPA not only by failing to register as a political committee in violation of former RCW 42.17A.205(1) (2012) and former RCW 42.17A.235 (2012), but also by intentionally concealing the true source of donations in violation of RCW 42.17A.435. *See GMA II*, 195 Wn.2d at 461, 469-70. This Court emphasized that GMA undertook specific actions for the improper purpose of concealment, so its failure to report was bound up in its illegal effort to conceal the true source of the funds. *GMA II*, 195 Wn.2d at 470. By contrast,

Bajakajian dealt only with the forfeiture as a result of a single reporting violation where there was no other offense concealed. *Bajakajian*, 524 U.S. at 325-26.

In short, the Court of Appeals was correct to conclude that GMA's conduct involved multiple illegal activities.

4. The other penalties available here further support the proportionality of the fine imposed

The Court of Appeals properly applied the third factor, "the penalties the legislature authorized and the maximum penalties that could have been imposed." *GMA III*, 15 Wn. App. 2d at 303-04 (citing \$100,348.00 in U.S. Currency, 354 F.3d at 1122). The court correctly concluded that this factor supported the penalty here.

The lower court noted that former RCW 42.17A.750(1)(f) (2012) authorized the trial court to impose a civil penalty equal to the amount of the unreported contributions. The trial court found that GMA contributed \$11 million to the No on I-522 campaign, and collected over \$14 million in the DOB account, authorizing a base penalty of up to those amounts, which could then be trebled. Thus, "[t]he \$18 million penalty the trial court imposed was well within the maximum penalty that the trial court could have imposed under FCPA provisions." *See GMA III*, 15 Wn. App. 2d at 304.

GMA argues that the \$10,000 per report violation and the \$10 per

day penalties under former RCW 42.17A.750(1)(c) and (d), which would total \$622,820 and treble to \$1.87 million, are the only proper points of comparison for GMA's violations. Opening Br. at 10. It further argues that the amount undisclosed cannot be determinative, otherwise no disclosure penalty could be excessive. Opening Br. at 9-10. These arguments are wrong, as case law expressly permits courts to consider maximum penalties.

It is wholly proper for courts to "consider the maximum penalty prescribed" in their excessive fines analysis, as the Court of Appeals did below. See, e.g., United States v. Mackby, 339 F.3d 1013, 1018 (9th Cir. 2003); United States v. Hantzis, 403 F. App'x 170, 172 (9th Cir. 2010) (\$4,000,000 fine not excessive where the "district court was statutorily entitled to impose a fine twice th[at] amount"); United States ex rel. Shutt v. Cmty. Home & Health Care Servs., Inc., 305 F. App'x 358, 361 (9th Cir. 2008) (finding judgment not constitutionally excessive in part because it was "well below the statutory maximum"); Balice v. U.S. Dep't of Agric., 203 F.3d 684, 699 (9th Cir. 2000) (holding that a \$225,500 penalty for illegal almond sales was not excessive in part because the maximum authorized penalty was nearly twice that amount).

Under GMA's logic, if an entity secretly donated \$20 million to a campaign 30 days before the election and reported the contribution the day after the election, the maximum penalty could only be based on that short

time period, regardless of the amount concealed. But this application makes no sense. The legislature chose to use the amount concealed as one basis for the penalty because it is a highly relevant measure of the harm caused. Courts should hesitate to override this type of legislative judgment. *See Bajakajian*, 524 U.S. at 336 (stating that "judgments about the appropriate punishment for an offense belong in the first instance to the legislature").

5. The harm GMA caused to the public was substantial

Regarding the fourth factor—the extent of the harm caused—the Court of Appeals concluded that the harm was "substantial" because GMA undermined the transparency of the ballot measure campaign and "intentionally denied the voters information related to substantial campaign contributions from otherwise unidentified parties over an extended period of the election season." *GMA III*, 15 Wn. App. 2d at 304-05. This is consistent with what this Court stated in its prior opinion: "The identity of the specific companies that contributed is precisely the type of information that campaign finance disclosure laws are designed to ferret out, and the State has an important interest in giving voters access to that information." *GMA II*, 195 Wn.2d at 464 (internal quotation marks omitted).

GMA argues that its violation caused no harm and that no voter was deceived about the motives of I-522's opponents. Opening Br. at 10-11. But GMA's own actions refute this claim. GMA intended to shield its members

from public scrutiny and skirt state campaign finance disclosure rules. *GMA II*, 195 Wn. 2d at 449. It advised its members on "how to divert attention from the true source of campaign funding[.]" *Id.* at 470. GMA removed its membership list from its website and encouraged members to deny that they were funding No on 522. *GMA III*, 15 Wn. App. 2d at 295.

GMA contends that voters were not harmed because "all of the information that the State says should have been disclosed was, in fact, disclosed" just before the election. Pet. at. 11. But a violator should not face a lesser penalty because he or she gets caught. GMA ignores that its actions "undermined the transparency of the ballot proposition measure and intentionally denied the voters information related to substantial campaign contributions from otherwise unidentified parties over an extended period of the election season." *GMA III*, 15 Wn. App. 2d at 304-05.

GMA also ignores that courts may "consider how the violation erodes the government's purposes for proscribing the conduct." *Pimentel*, 974 F.3d at 923. For example, in *Pimentel*, the Ninth Circuit concluded that fines related to overstayed parking meters were not excessive based on the harms of increased congestion and impeded traffic flow. *Id.* at 924. The Ninth Circuit has also rejected a defendant's claim that no harm resulted because trafficked food stamps were never redeemed. *Vasudeva v. United States*, 214 F.3d 1155, 1161 (9th Cir. 2000). The court held that trafficking

stamps was harmful, regardless of redemption, because the trafficking "undermine[d] the viability of an important government program[.]" *Id.*; *see also Mackby*, 339 F.3d at 1019 (noting that widespread fraud in the administration of Medicare would undermine public confidence in the system); *Balice*, 203 F.3d at 699 (the violation "undermined the Secretary's efforts to protect the stability of the almond market").

The harm caused by GMA's acts, in undermining transparency and denying voters from knowing the identity of contributors to the No on I-522 campaign, is an important subject of the State's concern. GMA prevented Washington voters from learning who was really spending money to defeat I-522. GMA continues to deny the importance that the people of Washington place on a transparent electoral system—an importance that courts have repeatedly recognized—and the harm that GMA caused to the public through its concealment. *See, e.g., GMA II*, 195 Wn.2d at 455 (explaining that disclosure allows the public to "follow the money with respect to campaigns and lobbying" (internal quotation marks removed)). These harms are markedly different from *Bajakajian*, where the "minimal" harm only deprived the government of information that money had left the country. *Bajakajian*, 524 U.S. at 339.

In sum, the Court of Appeals properly applied precedent in holding GMA's civil penalty is proportional to the gravity of GMA's offenses. This

Court should reject GMA's contrary argument and deny the petition.

B. The Court of Appeals Correctly Concluded that GMA Has Not Established Selective Enforcement

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